Structural Analysis of Molecular Chaperones: Nucleotide Exchange Factors of Hsp70 and the Assembly Chaperone RbcX

Habilitationsschrift

vorgelegt

an der Fakultät für Chemie der Technischen Universität München

von

## Andreas Bracher

Max-Planck-Institut für Biochemie Abteilung Zelluläre Biochemie Martinsried

November 2008

# Contents

1		Summary1		
2		Molecular chaperones and their functions in the cell		
3		Structure and Function of Nucleotide Exchange Factors of Hsp70		
	3.	1 The	Hsp70 system	6
		3.1.1	Conformational cycle of Hsp70 proteins	8
		3.1.2	Mechanism of action: Paradigms of Hsp70 function in eukaryotic cells	9
		3.1.3	Components of the Hsp70 system	9
		3.1.4	Diversity of the Hsp70 machinery	12
	3.	2 Nuc	eleotide exchange factors of Hsp70	13
		3.2.1	GrpE homologs	13
		3.2.2	BAG domain proteins	15
		3.2.3	HspBP1/Fes1p homologs	16
		3.2.4	Hsp110 family proteins	17
		3.2.5	The role of the nucleotide exchange factors in eukaryotic cells	20
		3.2.6	Evolution of Hsp70 nucleotide exchange factors	22
4		The role of RbcX in the folding of RuBisCO		23
5		Acknowledgements		25
6		References		
7		Curriculum vitae		
8		Appendix: Selected publications		

### 1 Summary

Protein folding and complex assembly are crucial processes for cell survival. Molecular chaperones accomplish these tasks by recognizing folding intermediates and by prevention of protein aggregation. In this work, two chaperone systems were studied: The regulation of the general purpose molecular chaperone Hsp70 by nucleotide exchange factors (NEF) and the assembly of the RuBisCO enzyme complex by the specific chaperone RbcX.

In order to function efficiently, Hsp70 requires two groups of cochaperones: J-domain proteins, which stimulate ATP hydrolysis by Hsp70s, and NEFs, which trigger the release of ADP from Hsp70. In the present work, the structure and function of two evolutionary distinct groups of NEFs were characterized, HspBP1 and Hsp110 homologs. The human NEF HspBP1 is an Armadillo repeat protein that tightly binds to subdomain IIb in the nucleotide-binding domain (NBD) of human Hsp70, thereby destabilizing the other parts of the NBD and releasing the bound nucleotide. Hsp110, which is structurally similar to Hsp70, embraces the Hsp70 NBD and stabilizes it in an open conformation with low nucleotide affinity. Direct interactions of the substrate protein with Hsp110 may support Hsp70-assisted folding further in a cooperative process.

The cyanobacterial protein RbcX is an assembly chaperone specific for the RuBisCO enzyme complex. By association with the C-terminus of the large RuBisCO subunit, RbcX guides the controlled formation of the RuBisCO core complex. RbcX is subsequently displaced by the small RuBisCO subunits.

### Zusammenfassung

Die Faltung von Proteinen und der Zusammenbau von Proteinkomplexen sind entscheidende Prozesse für das Überleben von Zellen. Molekulare Chaperone helfen dabei, indem sie Faltungsintermediate erkennen und die Proteinaggregation verhindern. In der vorliegenden Arbeit wurden zwei Systeme von Chaperonen untersucht: Die Regulation von Hsp70, einem molekularen Chaperon mit breiter Substratspezifität, durch Nukleotidaustauschfaktoren (NEFs) und der Zusammenbau des RuBisCO-Enzymkomplex durch das spezifische Chaperon RbcX.

Um effizient zu arbeiten, benötigt Hsp70 zwei Familien von Cochaperonen: J-Domänenproteine, welche die Hsp70 ATP-Hydrolyse anregen, und NEFs, welche die Freisetzung von ADP aus Hsp70 beschleunigen. Es wurden die Struktur und Funktion zweier NEFs, HspBP1 und Hsp110, untersucht. Der menschliche NEF HspBP1 ist ein Armadillo-Repeat-Protein, welches mit hoher Affinität an die Subdomäne IIb der Nukleotidbindungsdomäne (NBD) von Hsp70 bindet, den Rest der NBD aber destabilisiert und so das Nukleotid freisetzt. Hsp110, welches strukturelle Ähnlichkeit zu Hsp70 aufweist, umfasst die NBD von Hsp70 und stabilisiert so eine offene Konformation mit niedriger Nukleotidaffinität. Die direkte Wechselwirkung des Substratproteins mit Hsp110 könnte die Hsp70-vermittelte Faltung zusätzlich in einem kooperativen Prozess unterstützen.

Das cyanobakterielle Protein RbcX ist ein spezifisches Assemblierungschaperon des RuBisCO-Enzymkomplexes. Durch Anlagerung an das C-terminale Ende der großen Untereinheit von RuBisCO bewirkt RbcX den kontrollierten Zusammenbau eines RuBisCO-Rumpfkomplexes. Danach wird RbcX von den kleinen RuBisCO-Untereinheiten verdrängt.

### 2 Molecular chaperones and their functions in the cell

Proteins consist of linear chains of amino acids linked by peptide bonds. Since only the amino acid sequence is inherited by progeny, the three-dimensional structure - the fold - of a natural protein must in principle be determined by its amino acid sequence. In aqueous solution, the folding process of a protein is driven by the tendencies to bury hydrophobic sidechains within the interior of the protein structure and to compact the structure by formation of secondary structure elements such as  $\alpha$ -helices and  $\beta$ -sheets, resulting in the essential exclusion of water from the core of the protein structure. An artificial protein with a random amino acid sequence would probably spontaneously undergo a similar process, yet the compaction would most likely result in an ensemble of distinct structures or an aggregate of multiple chains clustering together. Evolution selects natural proteins for function, which typically requires a certain surface shape of the protein structure exposing a pattern of appropriate functional groups, for example in the substrate binding pocket of a biocatalyst. Typically, amino acid sequences should thus be optimized to yield proteins, which robustly fold into a defined, functionally active conformation. This native fold is expected to represent the global energy minimum of the conformational space of a given protein; otherwise the outcome of the folding process would depend critically on the starting conformation. Local minima might exist however, representing metastable conformational states.

Since proteins typically do evolve in complex environments containing many different macromolecules such as the cytoplasm of a cell, (modern) natural protein sequences are not necessarily optimized for independent folding. Instead, biological macromolecules called molecular chaperones exist that generally facilitate the folding process of proteins, apparently by undergoing (nucleotide-dependent) conformational transitions between states of high and low affinity for partially folded proteins. In addition, molecular chaperones support the assembly of protein complexes in the cell. The process of co-evolution of molecular chaperones with their substrates frequently resulted in strong dependencies: The substrate spectra of different families of molecular chaperones were found to be clearly distinct (Dekker et al., 2008; McClellan et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2005a). Some proteins strictly require a specific chaperone for folding: For example, the folding of actin is absolutely dependent on the chaperone complex TRiC (TCP-1 ring complex), while the functionally homologous prokaryotic protein MreB, which has essentially the same overall structure, folds

in absence of TRiC. The requirement of molecular chaperones in cellular environments might have resulted from the frequent occurance of high concentrations of partially folded proteins, which promote the unspecific association and aggregation of non-native proteins during the folding process. Because of the crowding effect exerted by the macromolecules in the cell, the effective concentrations in the cytosol are even higher (reviewed in (Zhou et al., 2008)). Once large aggregates have formed, proteins are difficult to be re-solubilised, probably because of the presumed low surface to volume ratio of the aggregate particles.

The control of the concentrations of its active protein components is crucial for the functioning of every cell and thus for the survival of biological organisms. Molecular chaperones form a vital part of the protein synthesis and maintenance machinery, and contribute to protein homeostasis in addition to factors which control protein expression and degradation. Which principal categories of molecular chaperones exist and how they function in mechanistic terms has been worked out during the past 20 years (reviewed in (Bukau et al., 2000; Hartl and Hayer-Hartl, 2002; Young et al., 2004)). Initially, molecular chaperones were found to be expressed at high concentrations upon exposure of cells to thermal stress and were consequently termed "heat shock proteins" (nomenclature, Hsp followed by the apparent molecular weight). This finding reflects the requirement to restore the function of stress-denatured proteins in the cell by re-folding. The importance of the very same or homologous molecular chaperones for constitutive protein folding emerged only later. Today, five families of general molecular chaperones found in most genome sequences have been characterized, (i) Hsp70s, with mammalian Hsp70 and the bacterial DnaK as beststudied family members, (ii) the chaperonin folding cages (Hsp60, GroEL, thermosome, TRiC), (iii) Hsp90 homologs, (iv) AAA+ proteins (AAA, ATPases Associated with various cellular Activities), and (v) the so-called small heat shock proteins. All but the last category are ATPases, which (directly or indirectly) use the energy released upon ATP hydrolysis to prevent aggregation and drive the folding reaction forward. Together the different systems of molecular chaperones form a protein folding network, in which substrates are distributed to the appropriate folding helper. Each of these chaperone systems is further regulated by cochaperones, which control the nucleotide cycle of the respective chaperone. In case of Hsp70, J-domain proteins trigger the ATP hydrolysis activity of the chaperone and nucleotide exchange factors (NEF) promote ADP release, enabling a new folding cycle. In the first part of this work, the functional interaction between Hsp70 and specific NEFs was studied in detail.

A large fraction of the proteins in the cell execute their cellular function by forming part of protein-protein complexes. For example, an abundance of 491 different, often multisubunit protein-protein complexes were found in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, which has 6466 open reading frames in total (Gavin et al., 2006). Taking into account the importance of protein complexes for the functioning of the cell, knowledge about assembly and disassembly processes of such cellular entities is sparse (Ellis, 2006). Interface regions within many complexes are largely hydrophobic, and the respective folded subunits are thus assumed to be unstable in isolation. While general purpose molecular chaperones certainly play an important role in stabilizing these complex subunits, dedicated chaperones might be required to guide the assembly of specific protein complexes. Interestingly, the term "molecular chaperone" was first used for such a specific assembly chaperone, nucleoplasmin, that is required for the assembly of the proteinaceous core particle of nucleosomes from four histone subunits in vitro (Laskey et al., 1978). Nucleoplasmin is thought to shield the positive surface areas of histones, which normally contact the phosphate backbone of DNA, during assembly. Another well-studied example for chaperone-mediated assembly is the formation of the 20S proteasome core particle, a complex containing 14 different subunits in eukaryotes (Rosenzweig and Glickman, 2008). In the second part of this work, a specific assembly chaperone of the cyanobacterial RuBisCO enzyme complex, RbcX, was structurally and functionally characterized.

### 3 Structure and Function of Nucleotide Exchange Factors of Hsp70

#### 3.1 The Hsp70 system

Arguably, the Hsp70 system of molecular chaperones is the central protein folding machinery of bacterial and eukaryotic cells (reviewed in (Mayer and Bukau, 2005)). These chaperones were shown to participate in the *de novo* synthesis of proteins at the ribosome, the assembly and disassembly of protein complexes, the transport of proteins across biological membranes, the refolding of stress-denatured proteins, and in the ubiquitylation and degradation of misfolded proteins. Furthermore, Hsp70 is thought to hand over client proteins to the Hsp90 system and to the chaperonin TRiC in eukaryotic cells.

Hsp70 proteins themselves are characterized by a highly conserved N-terminal nucleotide binding domain (NBD) with similarity to actin that binds and hydrolyzes ATP and a bipartite peptide binding domain (PBD) comprising a  $\beta$ -sandwich and an  $\alpha$ -helix bundle subdomain (Figure 1A). The PBD recognizes short stretches of amino acids with hydrophobic sidechains, which are normally buried in the interior of native protein structures (Rüdiger et al., 1997). The interaction with the substrate peptide sequences is allosterically controlled by the nucleotide binding to the NBD. In the ATP-bound state, attached peptides are rapidly exchanged by Hsp70, while in the ADP-bound form, peptides are tightly bound.

#### Figure 1 (following page): Structural states of Hsp70 proteins

(A) Domain composition of Hsp70 family proteins. The structures of the bovine Hsc70 NBD in complex with ADP (Flaherty et al., 1994) and of the PBD of *E. coli* DnaK in complex with the peptide NRLLLTG (shown in red) (Zhu et al., 1996) are shown in ribbon representation together with a schematic representation of the domain structure of Hsp70 proteins. The highly conserved interdomain linker is shown in yellow.

(B) Crystal structures of conformational states of Hsp70. The crystal structures of a C-terminally truncated fragment of DnaK from *Geobacillus kaustophilus* in the ADP state (Chang et al., 2008) and of the Hsp70 family protein Sse1p in complex with ATP (Liu and Hendrickson, 2007) are shown. The nucleotide-free state is believed to resemble the ADP-state.



В

Α

ATP





#### 3.1.1 Conformational cycle of Hsp70 proteins

The allosteric mechanisms by which the bound nucleotide controls the substrate binding affinity of Hsp70 are not yet clear. The crystal structures of the isolated Hsc70 NBD in complex with ADP and of the DnaK PBD in complex with the peptide NRLLLTG are thought to best represent the ADP state of Hsp70 (Flaherty et al., 1994; Zhu et al., 1996) (Figure 1A). The bound peptide was found enclosed between the  $\beta$ -sandwich and  $\alpha$ -helix bundle subdomains of the PBD. In this conformation, the domains appear to be loosely attached to each other with the highly conserved inter-domain linker accessible to protease digestion (Buchberger et al., 1995; Revington et al., 2005; Rist et al., 2006; Swain et al., 2007). In a recent crystal structure of C-terminally truncated DnaK in its ADP state, the linker region was found bound in a substrate-like manner by an adjoining DnaK molecule (Figure 1B); in the structure of the corresponding Hsc70 fragment, the PBD was disordered altogether in line with the proposed flexibility (Chang et al., 2008). The nucleotide-free state of Hsp70 is assumed to resemble the ADP-bound state. At the high cellular adenine nucleotide concentrations, this state should however be short-lived.

In the ATP-bound conformation, the linker appears to be firmly bound and protected from solvent and the structures of the individual domains seem less dynamic (Rist et al., 2006; Swain et al., 2007). The crystal structure of the distant Hsp70 homolog Sse1p in complex with ATP might serve as a working model for this conformational state (Liu and Hendrickson, 2007). In this structure, the inter-domain linker is buried at the bottom of the NBD, leading to an intimate contact between NBD and PBD (Figure 1). Both domains were found dramatically rearranged compared to the conformations of the isolated domains. The two lobes of the NBD exhibit a twisted arrangement in comparison with the ADP-bound conformation of the Hsc70 NBD, and the  $\alpha$ -helix bundle subdomain is lifted from the  $\beta$ sandwich domain and contacts the NBD instead. In this conformational state of Sse1p, the residues catalyzing ATP hydrolysis appear misplaced and the peptide binding pocket is buried in the hydrophobic core of the  $\beta$ -sandwich domain. Binding of the peptide substrate stimulates the ATPase activity of Hsp70 by an allosteric mechanism. The highly conserved inter-domain linker appears to play an important role in this process, since constructs comprising only the NBD and the linker segment have constitutively stimulated ATPase activity (Swain et al., 2007; Vogel et al., 2006).

#### 3.1.2 Mechanism of action: Paradigms of Hsp70 function in eukaryotic cells

How exactly Hsp70 promotes the folding of substrate proteins is currently largely unclear. Simple binding and dissociation of unfolded proteins should suppress aggregation side reactions and thus increase folding efficiency (kinetic partitioning model), but an actual acceleration of folding should only occur when the substrate is somehow remodelled in complex with Hsp70. Large proteins with complicated fold topology, requiring a distinct pattern of long range contacts, might be prone to become kinetically trapped as metastable intermediates during folding. Hsp70 might help to disentangle these partially folded precursors and thus accelerate folding (local unfolding model). During the import of proteins into the matrix of mitochondria, the mitochondrial Hsp70 machinery is able to actively unfold structured model proteins on the cytosolic side prior to threading the chain through the membrane pore. Several models have been proposed to explain this activity (reviewed by (Goloubinoff and De Los Rios, 2007)): Hsp70 might act as an ATP-driven motor exerting a power stroke or as a Brownian ratchet, respectively. In the motor model, defined conformational changes in mitochondrial Hsp70 exert a pulling force on the substrate chain and thus trigger unfolding; in the Brownian ratchet model, binding of mitochondrial Hsp70 to emerging recognition motifs in the peptide chain prevents retro-transposition and refolding of the substrate protein. In the entropic pulling model, which combines aspects of both propositions, the pulling force results from Brownian motion of Hsp70. Another aspect of Hsp70 function under debate is whether and how multiple Hsp70 molecules might cooperate in the folding of a protein chain.

#### 3.1.3 Components of the Hsp70 system

For proper function, regular Hsp70s largely depend on cochaperones, which regulate the transitions between the nucleotide states (Figure 2).

**Figure 2 (following page): Function of cochaperones in the folding cycle of Hsp70** In the ATP-bound state shown on the left, Hsp70 rapidly exchanges peptide substrate (indicated as blue line). Transient interaction with J-domain proteins (amber) triggers ATP hydrolysis by Hsp70, resulting in a conformation that tightly binds the substrate. The dissociation of ADP is accelerated by complex formation of Hsp70 with a nucleotide exchange factor (NEF, dark green). Binding of ATP triggers dissociation of the NEF and the release of the substrate protein for folding.



J-domain proteins, named after the bacterial Hsp40 protein DnaJ, are able to trigger the ATP hydrolysis by Hsp70. Hsp40s are also thought to associate with unfolded proteins and to recruit these to Hsp70. In the genomes of eukaryotes, a large number of J-domain proteins were found, which combine the J-domain segment with various adaptor domains that are thought to recruit Hsp70 for special functions (Young et al., 2003). For example, the Jdomain protein auxilin recruits Hsc70 for the removal of clathrin triskelions from clathrincoated vesicles. Another type of co-chaperone, the nucleotide exchange factors (NEF) of Hsp70, facilitates the dissociation of ADP from Hsp70, enabling the binding of ATP, which triggers substrate dissociation. Eukaryotes employ at least four structurally distinct classes of NEFs, GrpE homologs, BAG domain proteins, HspBP1 homologs and members of the Hsp110/Grp170 family (see Figure 3 for an overview). These factors will be discussed in detail in the following paragraphs. In combination, J-domain proteins and NEFs accelerate Hsp70 ATP hydrolysis and conformational cycling. Interestingly, the protein HIP/p48 (HIP, Hsp70-interacting protein), which was reported to interact with the NBD of Hsc70 and to antagonize the NEF Bag-1 (Höhfeld and Jentsch, 1997; Höhfeld et al., 1995), might act as nucleotide dissociation inhibitor of Hsp70 in analogy to GDIs (GDP dissociation inhibitor), which stabilize the GDP-bound conformation of small GTPases (these regulatory proteins also employ GTPase activators (GAPs) and NEFs (GEFs)).



#### Figure 3 (previous page): Nucleotide exchange factors of Hsp70

For better comparison, the Hsp70 NBDs of the different NEF-Hsp70 crystal structures (Harrison et al., 1997; Polier et al., 2008; Shomura et al., 2005; Sondermann et al., 2001) were superposed on the coordinates for the ADP state of bovine Hsc70 (Flaherty et al., 1994). A ribbon representation of the NEF is shown followed by the complex structures in which the NEF is shown in surface representation. On the right, the structural transitions of the Hsp70 NBD upon complex formation with the respective NEF in comparison to the ADP-bound conformation of the Hsc70 NBD are shown.

Another group of Hsp70 cochaperones with modular architecture is characterized by the presence of a so-called TPR-clamp domain (TPR, tetratrico peptide repeat) (Young et al., 2003). This domain specifically interacts with the conserved EEVD motifs at the ultimate C-termini of both eukaryotic Hsp70 and Hsp90. Among these, the adaptor protein HOP/p60 (HOP, Hsp70/Hsp90 organizing protein) links Hsp70 and Hsp90 and facilitates the transfer of Hsp90 client proteins (Scheufler et al., 2000). The yeast homolog Sti1p was also reported to trigger ATP hydrolysis by Hsp70 (Wegele et al., 2003). The ubiquitin ligase CHIP (C-terminus of Hsp70- interacting protein), another TPR-clamp domain protein, is thought to target Hsp70 substrates for proteasomal degradation (Höhfeld et al., 2001).

#### 3.1.4 Diversity of the Hsp70 machinery

Most organisms contain multiple isoforms of Hsp70 proteins. For example, *E. coli* contains three isoforms, DnaK, HscA and HscC (reviewed in (Genevaux et al., 2007)). DnaK constitutes the general purpose Hsp70, working together with DnaJ and the nucleotide exchange factor GrpE. DnaK is constitutively expressed and further induced upon heat shock. HscA appears to be more or less specialized for the assembly of iron-sulphur cluster proteins (together with the J-domain protein HscB).

Eukaryotes have an even greater diversity of Hsp70 isoforms. Some of the cytosolic isoforms are constitutively expressed (Hsc70, heat-shock protein 70 cognate, HspA8 in humans), the expression of others is induced during and after stress conditions (Hsp70, HspA1). Organelles of prokaryotic origin like mitochondria and chloroplasts contain DnaK-like Hsp70s and consequently homologs to the prokaryotic NEF GrpE. The Hsp70 homolog BiP/Grp78 in the ER lumen (ER, endoplasmic reticulum) is essential for the co-translational import of proteins into this compartment (Vogel et al., 1990).

In addition, remote homologs exist in eukaryotes that have significantly diverged from canonical Hsp70 in sequence. Together with the J-domain protein zuotin, the yeast Hsp70 homolog Ssz1p forms the so-called ribosome-associated complex (RAC) (Gautschi et al.,

2001). This complex appears to be conserved among eukaryotes (Otto et al., 2005). The mammalian homologs are named Hsp70L1 and MPP11/Zrf-1, respectively. RAC is thought to recruit canonical Hsp70 proteins to the emerging nascent chain on translating ribosomes and might guide the folding of nascent chains (Gautschi et al., 2002). Ssz1p has very poor ATPase activity and appears to be an ancillary protein that supports the function of the ribosome-associated J-domain protein in combination with canonical Hsp70s (Huang et al., 2005). Another clearly distinct variant of eukaryotic Hsp70 are the Hsp110/Grp170 homologs (Easton et al., 2000). These comprise a subfamily from which several isoforms are found in the cytosol (Hsp110) and the ER lumen (Grp170). Hsp110 family proteins have PBD sequences distantly related to canonical Hsp70 proteins, comprising a large insertion into the β-sandwich domain and a C-terminal extension to the 3-helix bundle domain (Easton et al., 2000; Liu and Hendrickson, 2007). Interestingly, Hsp110 homologs act as NEFs for regular Hsp70s and appear to be versions of Hsp70 specialized for nucleotide exchange. Hsp110s will be discussed in detail in chapter 3.2.4.

#### 3.2 Nucleotide exchange factors of Hsp70

#### **3.2.1** GrpE homologs

GrpE was the first NEF of Hsp70s to be characterized. Initially, mutations in the genes for GrpE as well as DnaK and DnaJ were observed to inhibit the replication of the  $\lambda$ -bacteriophage genome in *E. coli*, indicating a functional cooperation of the three gene products (reviewed in (Georgopoulos, 2006)). Only later, the importance of DnaK for general protein folding in *E. coli* and the roles of the individual gene products in the folding process became apparent. DnaK by itself exhibits a low intrinsic ATP hydrolysis rate (~0.04 min<sup>-1</sup>, (Karzai and McMacken, 1996)). Unfolded substrate proteins can accelerate the hydrolysis step but not sufficiently for effective folding. In additional presence of DnaJ however, the rate of hydrolysis can increase by >1000-fold. Under these conditions however, the ADP dissociation step becomes rate-limiting for the overall DnaK reaction despite the high concentrations of ATP in the cytosol. Addition of the NEF GrpE thus significantly accelerates nucleotide cycling and concomitantly protein folding by DnaK (Liberek et al., 1991). In fact, the presence of a functional GrpE is essential for the survival of *E. coli* cells (Ang et al., 1986). The crystal structure of GrpE in complex with the NBD of its associated Hsp70, DnaK of *E. coli* revealed how nucleotide exchange is mediated by GrpE (Harrison et

al., 1997) (Figure 3). In the crystal structure and in solution, GrpE forms tight dimers that asymmetrically contact only one DnaK molecule (Schönfeld et al., 1995; Wu et al., 1996). GrpE has a bipartite structure composed of an  $\alpha$ -helical N-terminal part and a small  $\beta$ -sheet domain at the C-terminus. The alpha-helical fragment forming the dimer interface extends far beyond the measures of the NBD, and might contact the substrate binding region of DnaK. Indeed, while full-length GrpE interferes with substrate binding to DnaK, GrpE missing 33 residues at the N-terminus does not (Harrison et al., 1997). The interaction with DnaK is mainly mediated by the beta-sheet region of one GrpE molecule inserting into the central cleft of the NBD. Figure 4 shows the commonly used definition of the subdomain structure in the Hsp70 NBD, with subdomains Ia and Ib forming lobe I, and IIa and IIb lobe II, respectively (Flaherty et al., 1990). The nucleotide binding site is located at the bottom of the central cleft between subdomains Ib and IIb close to the center of the domain. In structures of ADP-bound Hsc70 NBDs, residues from all four subdomains contact the nucleotide.



#### Figure 4: Subdomain structure of the NBD of Hsp70

The NBD of bovine Hsc70 is shown in its ADP-bound conformation as ribbon representation (Flaherty et al., 1994). The subdomains are indicated by different colors. ADP is shown in ball-and-stick representation.

Comparison of the GrpE-DnaK complex with the structure of mammalian Hsc70-ADP complex indicated that binding of GrpE induces a 14° rotation of subdomain IIB resulting in an opening of the nucleotide binding cleft incompatible with nucleotide binding (Figure 3).

#### **3.2.2 BAG domain proteins**

In eukaryotes, homologs to GrpE were found only in mitochondria and chloroplasts, i.e. organelles of bacterial origin that preserve the bacterial DnaK chaperone system within. The cytosolic and ER-lumenal Hsp70s have a higher spontaneous ADP release rates than their bacterial counterparts, and thus were thought to have evolved such that assisted release of ADP from the nucleotide binding cleft is dispensable. Consequently, the finding that BAG-1 (Bcl2-associated athanogene) can accelerate nucleotide exchange by mammalian Hsp70 came as a surprise (Höhfeld and Jentsch, 1997). BAG-1 was initially described as a cellular partner of Bcl-2, a negative regulator of apoptosis. The binding to Hsp70 is mediated by a ~110 amino acid long domain, which is present in a group of eukaryotic proteins with modular domain structure, the so-called BAG domain family (Takayama and Reed, 2001). For example, BAG-1L contains an ubiquitin-like domain and a nuclear localization sequence (NLS) in addition to the BAG domain. Structurally, the BAG domain of BAG-1 is unrelated to GrpE and consists of a ~60 Å long bundle of three  $\alpha$ -helices (Briknarova et al., 2001; Sondermann et al., 2001) (Figure 3). The mechanism of nucleotide exchange is conserved with GrpE, however: In the crystal structure of the complex with the NBD of Hsc70, the BAG domain binds to subdomains Ib and IIb, stabilizing an open conformation of the NBD very similar to DnaK in complex with GrpE (Sondermann et al., 2001). In both structures, subdomain IIb is rotated outward by 14°, suggesting that it acts as a molecular switch to modulate nucleotide affinity. Thus GrpE and BAG-1 represent thus an example of convergent evolution. Though being mechanistically similar, GrpE and BAG-1 exhibit functional differences: In contrast to GrpE, which triggers the dissociation of both ADP and ATP from DnaK, BAG-1 was found to be selective for ADP (Brehmer et al., 2001). In addition, BAG-1 and GrpE do accelerate nucleotide exchange exclusively on their respective binding partners Hsc70/Hsp70 and DnaK (Brehmer et al., 2001).

While BAG domains were clearly shown to accelerate the dissociation of ADP from Hsc70 and consequently enhanced the ATPase rate of Hsp70 in presence of Hsp40, contradictory results were reported on the effect of BAG-1 on protein folding by Hsp70. Depending on the model systems used, both inhibitory and stimulating effects of BAG-1 were observed. A plausible explanation for these conflicting results is that the effect of BAG-1 on protein folding is concentration-dependent and also strongly influenced by the presence or absence of specific cochaperones (reviewed in (Alberti et al., 2003; Takayama and Reed, 2001)). BAG domain proteins might thus just not be general NEFs like GrpE in *E. coli*, where no other NEF is present. Indeed, the diverse BAG domain proteins are expressed at low levels in the cytosol of mammals, indicating more specialized functions. Furthermore, BAG domain proteins are generally absent from the eukaryotic ER lumen, a compartment with high demand for Hsp70-mediated protein folding activity.

#### 3.2.3 HspBP1/Fes1p homologs

The human protein HspBP1 (Hsp70 binding protein 1) was first identified in a yeast-twohybrid screen for Hsp70-interacting proteins (Raynes and Guerriero, 1998). Similar to BAG-1, HspBP1 was initially described as an inhibitor of Hsp70-mediated protein folding, but later found to accelerate nucleotide exchange of Hsp70 (Kabani et al., 2002b; Raynes and Guerriero, 1998). In contrast to BAG domain proteins, HspBP1 is a relatively abundant cytosolic protein. Sequence homologs to HspBP1 were identified throughout the eukaryotic domain. For example, the S. cerevisiae homolog Fes1p was shown to act as NEF for the yeast Hsc70 Ssa1p and for the ribosome-associated Hsp70-homolog Ssb1p (Dragovic et al., 2006b; Kabani et al., 2002a; Shomura et al., 2005). The ER lumen of eukaryotic cells contains a homolog of HspBP1 named BAP/Sil1 (BAP, BiP-associated protein, the S. cerevisiae homolog is named Sil1p or Sls1p) that cooperates with the ER-resident Hsp70, BiP/Kar2p. All HspBP1 homologs are compact proteins of ~35 kDa with no discernible additional domains other than the conserved Hsp70 binding domain. For example, only 80 amino acid residues are removed from the N-terminus of HspBP1 by limited proteolysis (McLellan et al., 2003). The remaining core domain preserves the full NEF function (Shomura et al., 2005).

Deletion of *FES1* in *S. cerevisiae* results in a temperature-sensitive phenotype, suggesting a role of Fes1p in the stress response (Kabani et al., 2000; Shomura et al., 2005). Using firefly luciferase as a reporter in *S. cerevisiae* cells, we could demonstrate that the absence of Fes1p causes a folding defect at 37 °C. An increased amount of unfolded, enzymatically inactive luciferase was present and found associated with Ssa1p and Ydj1p, the homologs of Hsc70 and Hsp40 in yeast, respectively. Expression of a rationally designed mutant of Fes1p, Fes1p(A79R,R195A), which is unable to bind to Ssa1p and Ssb1p, cannot complement the genomic deletion of the *fes1* gene. Together, these findings clearly indicate an important role for Fes1p in folding.

By solving the crystal structure of the core domain of human HspBP1, we could show that it forms an all- $\alpha$ -helical structure containing four Armadillo repeats in the central segment and flanking  $\alpha$ -helix bundles at the chain termini, a structure distinct from both GrpE and the BAG domain (Figure 3). Similar to other Armadillo repeat proteins, the overall structure is slightly curved. The concave face of HspBP1 forms the protein-protein interface to Hsp70. In complex with the lobe II fragment of the Hsp70 NBD, the curved NEF appears to embrace subdomain IIb (Figure 3).

In comparison with BAG-1, which binds on top of the NBD, HspBP1 binds rather sideways onto subdomain IIb in the crystal structure. This would cause a severe steric conflict with subdomain Ib assuming that it occupies the same position as in the ADP-bound conformation. Probing the conformation of the entire NBD in complex with HspBP1 by limited proteolysis and by tryptophan fluorescence spectroscopy indicated indeed a less compact conformation for the NBD as compared to the complex with BAG or in absence of nucleotide exchange factors. These data are consistent with partial unfolding of lobe I or a substantial opening of the lobes in the Hsp70 NBD. HspBP1 and its homologs thus trigger nucleotide exchange by a mechanism distinct from BAG domain proteins and GrpE. The distortion of the Hsp70 NBD structure might be sufficient to dissociate bound ADP, however rotation of subdomain IIb as observed in the BAG-Hsc70 complex might occur in addition. The different conformations imposed on the NBD of Hsp70/Hsc70 by HspBP1 and BAG-1 may also have differential effects on the crosstalk with the substrate binding domain and with downstream effectors like CHIP (Alberti et al., 2004; Connell et al., 2001; Meacham et al., 2001).

#### 3.2.4 Hsp110 family proteins

A Hsp110 family protein was first reported to act as NEF for Hsp70 in a landmark paper by Stirling and colleagues in 2004 (Steel et al., 2004). The ER-lumenal Hsp110 protein (i.e. Grp170 homolog) Lhs1p of yeast was shown to trigger the release of ADP from Kar2p, the equivalent to BiP in yeast. In addition, Hsp110s were characterized as "holdases", chaperones that are able to keep stress-denatured proteins soluble, but are unable to actively refold them (Goeckeler et al., 2002; Oh et al., 1997; Oh et al., 1999). The association of Hsp110 and Hsp70 family members has been reported for several eukaryotic organisms, among them the cytosolic homologs in *S. cerevisiae*, the Hsp110 protein Sse1p and the

regular Hsp70s Ssa1p and Ssb1p (Shaner et al., 2005; Steel et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2000; Yam et al., 2005; Yamagishi et al., 2004; Zhang and Guy, 2005). In addition to Sse1p, which is constitutively expressed, a closely related stress-inducible isoform, Sse2p, exists (Mukai et al., 1993). Together, Sse1p and Sse2p, were reported to be essential (Raviol et al., 2006b; Shaner et al., 2004). Humans have three genes for cytosolic Hsp110 isoforms, Hsp105 (subsequently named Hsp110), Apg-1 and Apg-2 (Ishihara et al., 1999; Kaneko et al., 1997; Nonoguchi et al., 1999). The non-redundant ER homolog Grp170 (glucose-regulated protein, also Orp-150, oxygen-regulated protein) is essential in mice and its deletion results in embryonic lethality (Kitao et al., 2001).

Using the fluorescence of the nucleotide homolog MABA-ADP (N8-(4-N'methylanthraniloylaminobutyl)-8-aminoadenosine 5'-diphosphate) as a reporter (Packschies et al., 1997; Theyssen et al., 1996), we could demonstrate that cytosolic Hsp110 homologs act as NEFs for cognate Hsp70s and trigger the dissociation of ADP (Dragovic et al., 2006a). Sselp accelerates ADP release from Ssalp and Ssblp. Hspl10 has a similar effect on mammalian Hsp70. Independently, Bukau and colleagues reported nucleotide exchange activity of Sse1p on Ssa1p and Ssb1p, confirming our findings (Raviol et al., 2006b). Dissection of the domain structure of Sse1p showed that both the NBD and the SBD are required for NEF activity and that this function is sensitive to C-terminal truncations in Sse1p (Dragovic et al., 2006a). In combination with cognate Hsc70 and Hsp40, the cytosolic Hsp110 homologs were able to increase the folding efficiency of firefly luciferase in vitro compared to folding reactions in the absence of these factors. The bioluminescence generated during the reaction catalyzed by firefly luciferase is commonly used as a sensitive test for Hsp70 activity, and the folding of this enzyme is believed to be a model reaction for the biogenesis of multi-domain proteins. Both the initial rate and the final yield of the luciferase folding reaction were increased by addition of Sse1p, Ssa1p and Ydj1p (yeast Hsp40).

By determining the crystal structure of Sse1p in complex with the NBD of human Hsp70, we were able to define the mechanistic framework for the cooperation of Hsp110 and Hsp70 molecular chaperones (Polier et al., 2008). In the complex, the NBDs of Sse1p and Hsp70 are facing each other, forming an extensive, quasi-symmetrical dimer interface (Figure 3). In addition, the  $\alpha$ -helix bundle subdomain (3HBD, 3-helix bundle domain) of Sse1p interacts with the flank of Hsp70 lobe II, stabilizing an open conformation of the Hsp70 NBD. In comparison with the NBD complexes of GrpE and BAG-1, the NBD opening is more pronounced with an effective sideways rotation of subdomain IIb of 27 ° (GrpE and

BAG-1 induce a 14 ° rotation (Figure 3) (Harrison et al., 1997; Sondermann et al., 2001)). The SBD of Hsp70, which is not present in our crystals, appears not to contribute substantially to the interaction with Sse1p, as its presence neither alters complex formation nor NEF activity significantly compared to the NBD alone. An independent structural study on the Hsp110-Hsp70 complex confirmed this view (Schuermann et al., 2008).

In the crystal structure, the nucleotide binding pocket of Sse1p is occupied by ATP and the overall conformation of Sse1p is virtually unaltered in comparison to the crystal structure of the Sse1p·ATP complex (Liu and Hendrickson, 2007), explaining the previously reported ATP requirement for complex formation (Andreasson et al., 2008; Shaner et al., 2006). Interestingly, a loop in the Hsp70 NBD directly contacts the Sse1p-bound ATP, "sensing" the nucleotide state of the Hsp110 binding partner.

Sse1p and the Hsp70 NBD form extensive contacts in the crystal structure, burying  $\sim$ 1760 Å<sup>2</sup> of surface on each binding partner. The contact interface is characterized by close surface shape complementarity with a large number of polar interactions. Sequence analysis showed that key contact residues are highly conserved in the Hsp110 protein subfamily, indicating that the Sse1p-Hsp70 NBD complex structure is representative for all Hsp110 homologs. The contact residues on the NBD of human Hsp70 are almost identical to the corresponding residues in the cognate yeast Hsp70, explaining the remarkable efficiency of nucleotide exchange on mammalian orthologs by Sse1p (Polier et al., 2008; Shaner et al., 2006). Mutational analysis of the key contact regions in Sse1p indicated that the interface of the Sse1p 3HBD with the Hsp70 NBD is critical for nucleotide exchange activity, while the NBD-NBD interface seemed less sensitive towards amino acid alterations. Virtually the same effects on NEF activity were observed upon mutation of complementary contact residues on Ssa1p, the *S. cerevisiae* ortholog to Hsc70.

In order to better understand how Sse1p contributes to protein folding by the Hsp70 machinery, we subjected our Sse1p mutant proteins to a series of functional assays. Using a fluorescent peptide probe bound to Ssa1p for sensitive detection, we could show that nucleotide exchange can become rate-limiting for substrate release, i.e. for the Hsp70 conformational cycle, despite the substantial off-rate of ADP from eukaryotic Hsp70s. While unmodified Sse1p accelerated peptide release by approximately one order of magnitude, Sse1p mutant proteins that were virtually unable to trigger ADP dissociation had only very little effect on peptide release. Similarly, the presence of these Sse1p mutants did not increase the efficiency of Hsp70-mediated luciferase folding *in vitro* in contrast to wildtype Sse1p protein, suggesting that its NEF activity is most important for Sse1p function.

19

Interestingly, additional mutations targeting the  $\beta$ -sandwich domain of Sse1p, which does not directly contribute to Ssa1p binding, aggravated the effect of mutations at the protein-protein interface impairing NEF activity, indicating that Sse1p might support protein folding by other means than nucleotide exchange as well. To assess the functionality of the Sse1p mutants *in vivo*, we tested the ability of the mutant proteins to complement the lethal phenotype of the combined deletion of *SSE1* and *SSE2* in *S. cerevisiae*. Only the *sse1* mutants that were virtually NEF-inactive were unable to support the growth of yeast in absence of functional Sse1p, confirming our notion that NEF activity is most important for *SSE1* function.

The ATPase activity of Hsp110 homologs Lhs1p and mouse Hsp105α was reported to be stimulated in complex with their cognate Hsp70 partners, Kar2p and Hsc70, respectively (Steel et al., 2004; Yamagishi et al., 2004), opening interesting possibilities for the functional cooperation of the two proteins. Sse1p has been reported to have intrinsic ATPase activity similar to canonical Hsp70 proteins (Raviol et al., 2006a) , while other Hsp110 homologs appeared to have no ATPase activity (Oh et al., 1999; Yamagishi et al., 2004). Unambiguous electron density for intact ATP has been found in the binding pocket of Sse1p in the crystal structures of the complex with the NBD of Hsp70 (Polier et al., 2008), indicating that at least under the crystallization conditions and in absence of the Hsp70 PBD Sse1p-bound ATP is not hydrolyzed. Similarly, mutations that are predicted to abolish ATPase activity and conformational cycling did not impair Sse1p function *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Polier et al., 2008; Raviol et al., 2006b; Shaner et al., 2004), demonstrating that ATP hydrolysis and conformational cycling are not critical for Sse1p function. The conformational state of Sse1p is nevertheless strongly dependent on its nucleotide state (Andreasson et al., 2008; Raviol et al., 2006a).

#### 3.2.5 The role of the nucleotide exchange factors in eukaryotic cells

Why do eukaryotic cells have such a plethora of Hsp70 NEFs? There is evidence that the different NEFs are functionally only partially redundant: While - judged by their modular domain structure - BAG domain proteins might be highly specialized, HspBP1 and Hsp110 homologs both appear to serve as general NEFs. Over-expression of the HspBP1 homolog Fes1p can however only partially complement the combined deletion of *SSE1* and *SSE2* in *S. cerevisiae*, resulting in a thermo-sensitive phenotype (Raviol et al., 2006b). Mutations in the mammalian Sil1 gene that potentially inactivate its NEF function cause Marinesco-

Sjögren syndrome, an autosomal recessive neurodegenerative disorder in humans, and the ataxia phenotype of woozy mice, despite the presence of a functional Grp170 gene (Anttonen et al., 2005; Senderek et al., 2005; Zhao et al., 2005a). In both cases, Purkinje cells selectively degenerate while other tissues are much less affected. Interestingly, upregulation of mouse Grp170, ORP150, was reported to enhance Purkinje cell survival during embryonal development (Kitao et al., 2004), suggesting that this cell type might be especially sensitive to a lack in ER folding capacity. In this respect it is worth noting that the knock-out of Grp170 in mice is inviable, and thus functional Sil1 appears not to complement the loss of Grp170 (Kitao et al., 2001). It is unclear however, how the expression levels of Grp170 and Sill vary across different cell types and during development. In canine pancreatic microsomes, the concentrations of BiP, Grp170, and Sil1 were 5.00, 0.60, and 0.005 µM, respectively (Weitzmann et al., 2007). In S. cerevisiae, deletion of LHS1 results in a constitutively induced UPR (unfolded protein response, upregulation of ER chaperones in response to stress in this compartment), and the growth defect resulting from the combined deletion of *LHS1* and *IRE1*, an effector in UPR induction, was suppressed by overexpression of SIL1, suggesting that Lhs1p and Sil1p are functionally redundant in yeast (Tyson and Stirling, 2000). Sse1p was found associated with various Hsp90-Hsp70 substrate complexes in yeast, while Fes1p was notably absent in these complexes (Zhao et al., 2005b). In contrast to Sse1p and human Hsp110, Fes1p and human HspBP1 were furthermore unable to enhance Hsp70/Hsp40-mediated refolding of firefly luciferase in vitro (Dragovic et al., 2006a; Polier et al., 2008; Tzankov et al., 2008). The functional difference between Hsp110 and HspBP1 NEFs might be caused by their different interaction modes with Hsp70 and by Hsp110s ability to interact with the substrate. As a potent holdase, Hsp110s might be directed preferentially towards certain Hsp70-substrate complexes. Interactions of these substrates with both Hsp70 and Hsp110 might aid the remodelling of the client protein before its release and thus improve the folding efficiency. On the other hand, the distinct binding modes of HspBP1 and Hsp110 in the Hsp70-NEF complexes might be differentiated by other Hsp70 cochaperones. We found that the J-domain containing factor RAC and Fes1p competed for binding to the ribosome-associated Hsp70 of yeast, Ssb1p (Dragovic et al., 2006b). Comparison of the crystal structures of the complexes of the Hsp70 NBD with a J-domain and with Sse1p indicated that the interaction sites are far apart and no direct competition between these cochaperones would be expected (Jiang et al., 2007; Polier et al., 2008). Another aspect might be the timing of the folding reaction. Different substrates might require unique Hsp70-interaction intervals for efficient folding and the average period between binding and release of the NEF may act as general timer for this.

#### 3.2.6 Evolution of Hsp70 nucleotide exchange factors

Both regular Hsp70 and Hsp40 homologs share remarkable sequence similarity between eubacteria and eukaryotes, indicating a common origin. In contrast, the absence of GrpE homologs in the cytosol and the ER lumen of eukaryotes suggests that either NEFs of Hsp70 were not present in the last common ancestor of bacteria and eukaryotes or that Hsp70 was acquired later by the archaeal precursor of eukaryotes through horizontal gene transfer. The latter hypothesis is in line with the absence of Hsp70 homologous genes in most archaeal genomes. Furthermore, a simultaneous transfer of DnaK and DnaJ seems likely, considering that these genes are encoded as one operon in many prokaryotic genomes.

Sequence homology to Hsp70 and absence of Hsp110 homologs in prokaryotes suggest that the Hsp110 family emerged by divergent evolution after the juncture, i.e. Hsp110 proteins presumably derive from canonical eukaryotic Hsp70s. It is tempting to speculate that primordial Hsp70 proteins were able to catalyze nucleotide exchange via homo-dimer formation in a way resembling our hetero-dimeric complex structure. Dimer formation might have enabled tight coordination between Hsp70 molecules during collaborative folding of larger, possibly multi-domain protein substrates. A peptide-charged Hsp70 molecule would have been able to recruit another ATP-bound Hsp70 molecule to the substrate, while itself being primed for a new folding cycle by concomitant dissociation of ADP. Thus, transition through alternate conformational states would have been coupled in the hypothetical homodimeric Hsp70 complex similar to a two-stroke engine. Intriguingly, most key residues for the interactions observed in the Sse1p-Hsp70N complex are conserved among all sequences of canonical Hsp70s. Presumably, a specialization on nucleotide exchange of Hsp110 proteins enabled tighter control and increased efficiency of the Hsp70 folding cycle. BAG domain proteins and HspBP1/Fes1p homologs might have evolved subsequently from unrelated proteins that had increased affinity for the NBD of Hsp70. Both proteins have generic folds, 3-helix bundle and successions of Armadillo repeats, which are employed as structural scaffold in many different functional contexts in eukaryotes, indicating their great adaptability for protein-protein interactions.

#### 4 The role of RbcX in the folding of RuBisCO

Subunit folding and enzyme complex assembly of ribulose 1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase (RuBisCO) by molecular chaperones has been employed as an important model system in the study of molecular chaperones. The most common quarternary structure of RuBisCO, the enzyme responsible for the fixation of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> in form of organic compounds by plants and cyanobacteria, is a hexadecamer of 8 large RbcL subunits forming the core complex and 8 small RbcL subunits at the periphery (reviewed in (Andersson, 2008)). A simpler type of RuBisCO found in certain cyanobacteria consists only of RbcL dimers, which is believed to be the minimal active unit. RuBisCO is assumed to be the most abundant protein on earth. The disparately huge amounts are presumably necessary to compensate for the enzyme's low activity and its poor selectivity of CO<sub>2</sub> over O<sub>2</sub> (Andersson, 2008). The benefits of an engineered form of RuBisCO with improved kinetic characteristics would be enormous; however progress in this effort is hampered by difficulties to produce active plant RuBisCO in prokaryotic expression hosts. It was recognized early that the large subunits are associated with the plant homolog of GroEL in chloroplasts, Cpn60 (Barraclough and Ellis, 1980; Roy, 1989). Later it was shown that the GroEL/GroES chaperonin complex of E. coli folds cyanobacterial RbcL and produces active RuBisCO, yet with modest efficiency (Goloubinoff et al., 1989). The presence of the gene RbcX, which is often found in the same operon as the genes for the RuBisCO subunits in cyanobacteria, enhances the yield of active RuBisCO, suggesting that it might act as a chaperone in the genesis of the complex (Li and Tabita, 1997). Interestingly, gene sequences homologous to cyanobacterial RbcX were discovered in plant genomes. Our studies showed that co-expression of cyanobacterial RbcX with RbcL improves the efficiency of RbcL<sub>8</sub> core complex assembly (Saschenbrecker et al., 2007). In the crystal structure, the 15 kDa small RbcX protein forms an arc-shaped dimer with conserved surface patches at the central crevice and at the outer edges (Figure 5). Our mutational analysis indicated that both surface areas are critical for RbcL<sub>8</sub> core complex assembly. The central crevice recognizes the highly conserved peptide motif EIKFEFD at the C-terminus of RbcL, an interaction, which presumably promotes the recruitment of RbcX to RbcL monomers or dimers. The other conserved surface area might help organizing RbcL dimers into higher oligomers. Competition experiments with a cognate RbcS indicate that RbcX is rapidly displaced by RbcS upon completion of the RbcL core particle, yielding the enzymatically active RuBisCO

complex. In remarkable contrast to the general molecular chaperones, RbcX thus specifically recognizes its unique substrate protein RbcL and guides its assembly to a larger complex by an unknown mechanism, preventing irreversible aggregation of RbcL. Given the abundance of macromolecular complexes in eukaryotic cells, many more specialized chaperones like RbcX might exist, which assist efficient complex assembly. Combining two structurally independent, individually weakly binding interaction motifs might be a general strategy to balance initial substrate recognition and subsequent displacement of the chaperone from the assembled complex.



#### Figure 5: Crystal structures of RbcX and of the RuBisCO enzyme complex

(A) Crystal structure of the RbcX dimer. The crystal structure of the RbcX dimer from *Synechococcus* PCC 7002 is shown in ribbon representation.

(B) Structure of the RbcX-EIKFEFD peptide complex. The similarity score for all available RbcX sequences is plotted onto the surface of RbcX. The bound RuBisCO signature peptide is shown in yellow at the center.

(C) For comparison, the structure of the RuBisCO complex of *Synechococcus* PCC 6301 is shown to scale (Newman et al., 1993). The RbcL subunits are shown in surface representation except for the C-terminal signature peptide (shown in yellow). The RbcS subunits are indicated as red ribbons.

### 5 Acknowledgements

I am very grateful to Prof. Dr. Ulrich Hartl for giving me the opportunity to head a research group in the Department of Cellular Biology at the Max-Planck-Institute of Biochemistry in Martinsried and for his continuous interest and generous support.

I also want to thank my scientific mentors Prof. Dr. Johannes Buchner and Prof. Dr. Dr. Adelbert Bacher for their guidance during this Habilitation project.

For their invaluable contributions to the projects presented and their willingness to put up with me, I am deeply indebted to the Ph.D. students Sigrun Polier, Dr. Annette Roeben, and Dr. Sandra Saschenbrecker. I am also very thankful for the fruitful collaboration with Dr. Yasuhito Shomura, who worked as a postdoc in my group. This work would have not been possible without the support and helpful advice by my colleagues Dr. Zdravko Dragovic, Nikolay Tzvetkov, Dr. Hung-Chun Chang, Dr. Sarah Schäuffelhut (neé Broadley), Dr. Katja Siegers, Dr. Manajit Hayer-Hartl , Dr. Jörg Tatzelt, and last but not least Dr. Jason Young. I also want to thank all other members of the Hartl department for creating such a stimulating work atmosphere. The lab help provided by the rotation students Julia Schramm, Traudl Schmidt, Jan Ksienzyk, Markus Hoberg, Philipp Wild, Franzi Frey und Zhuo Li and the apprentices Romina Kutlesa and Markus Mittelhäuser was and is highly appreciated.

Furthermore, I want to thank my collaboration partners, especially Dr. Vince Guerriero (University of Arizona, Tucson, U.S.A.) and Dr. Jeff Brodsky (University of Pittsburgh, U.S.A.).

The X-ray diffraction data were collected at the synchrotrons ESRF (Grenoble, France), SLS (Villigen, Switzerland) and DESY (Hamburg), always excellently supported by the local beamline personnel. Financial support for the Hsp110 project is provided by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG).

Finally, I want to thank the past and present "lunch club" members, Dr. Kornelius Zeth, Dr. Petra Wollmann, Dr. Martin Grininger, Dr. Thomas Meins, Dr. Christian Benda, and Dr. Patrik Johansson, for stimulating discussions about protein crystallography and anything beyond.

### **6** References

- Alberti, S., Bohse, K., Arndt, V., Schmitz, A., and Höhfeld, J. (2004). The Co-Chaperone HspBP1 Inhibits the CHIP Ubiquitin Ligase and Stimulates the Maturation of the Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator. Mol Biol Cell *15*, 4003-4010.
- Alberti, S., Esser, C., and Höhfeld, J. (2003). BAG-1--a nucleotide exchange factor of Hsc70 with multiple cellular functions. Cell stress & chaperones *8*, 225-231.
- Andersson, I. (2008). Catalysis and regulation in Rubisco. J Exp Bot 59, 1555-1568.
- Andreasson, C., Fiaux, J., Rampelt, H., Mayer, M.P., and Bukau, B. (2008). Hsp110 Is a Nucleotide-activated Exchange Factor for Hsp70. J Biol Chem 283, 8877-8884.
- Ang, D., Chandrasekhar, G.N., Zylicz, M., and Georgopoulos, C. (1986). Escherichia coli grpE gene codes for heat shock protein B25.3, essential for both lambda DNA replication at all temperatures and host growth at high temperature. J Bacteriol 167, 25-29.
- Anttonen, A.K., Mahjneh, I., Hamalainen, R.H., Lagier-Tourenne, C., Kopra, O., Waris, L., Anttonen, M., Joensuu, T., Kalimo, H., Paetau, A., *et al.* (2005). The gene disrupted in Marinesco-Sjogren syndrome encodes SIL1, an HSPA5 cochaperone. Nat Genet 37, 1309-1311.
- Barraclough, R., and Ellis, R.J. (1980). Protein synthesis in chloroplasts. IX. Assembly of newly-synthesized large subunits into ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase in isolated intact pea chloroplasts. Biochim Biophys Acta 608, 19-31.
- Brehmer, D., Rüdiger, S., Gässler, C.S., Klostermeier, D., Packschies, L., Reinstein, J., Mayer, M.P., and Bukau, B. (2001). Tuning of chaperone activity of Hsp70 proteins by modulation of nucleotide exchange. Nat Struct Biol 8, 427-432.
- Briknarova, K., Takayama, S., Brive, L., Havert, M.L., Knee, D.A., Velasco, J., Homma, S., Cabezas, E., Stuart, J., Hoyt, D.W., *et al.* (2001). Structural analysis of BAG1 cochaperone and its interactions with Hsc70 heat shock protein. Nat Struct Biol *8*, 349-352.
- Buchberger, A., Theyssen, H., Schröder, H., McCarty, J.S., Virgallita, G., Milkereit, P., Reinstein, J., and Bukau, B. (1995). Nucleotide-induced conformational changes in the ATPase and substrate binding domains of the DnaK chaperone provide evidence for interdomain communication. J Biol Chem 270, 16903-16910.
- Bukau, B., Deuerling, E., Pfund, C., and Craig, E.A. (2000). Getting newly synthesized proteins into shape. Cell *101*, 119-122.
- Chang, Y.W., Sun, Y.J., Wang, C., and Hsiao, C.D. (2008). Crystal structures of the 70-kDa heat shock proteins in domain disjoining conformation. J Biol Chem 283, 15502-15511.
- Connell, P., Ballinger, C.A., Jiang, J., Wu, Y., Thompson, L.J., Hohfeld, J., and Patterson, C. (2001). The co-chaperone CHIP regulates protein triage decisions mediated by heatshock proteins. Nat Cell Biol 3, 93-96.
- Dekker, C., Stirling, P.C., McCormack, E.A., Filmore, H., Paul, A., Brost, R.L., Costanzo, M., Boone, C., Leroux, M.R., and Willison, K.R. (2008). The interaction network of the chaperonin CCT. EMBO J 27, 1827-1839.

- Dragovic, Z., Broadley, S.A., Shomura, Y., Bracher, A., and Hartl, F.U. (2006a). Molecular chaperones of the Hsp110 family act as nucleotide exchange factors of Hsp70s. EMBO J *25*, 2519-2528.
- Dragovic, Z., Shomura, Y., Tzvetkov, N., Hartl, F.U., and Bracher, A. (2006b). Fes1p acts as a nucleotide exchange factor for the ribosome-associated molecular chaperone Ssb1p. Biological chemistry *387*, 1593-1600.
- Easton, D.P., Kaneko, Y., and Subjeck, J.R. (2000). The hsp110 and Grp1 70 stress proteins: newly recognized relatives of the Hsp70s. Cell Stress Chaperones 5, 276-290.
- Ellis, R.J. (2006). Molecular chaperones: assisting assembly in addition to folding. Trends Biochem Sci *31*, 395-401.
- Flaherty, K.M., DeLuca-Flaherty, C., and McKay, D.B. (1990). Three-dimensional structure of the ATPase fragment of a 70K heat-shock cognate protein. Nature *346*, 623-628.
- Flaherty, K.M., Wilbanks, S.M., DeLuca-Flaherty, C., and McKay, D.B. (1994). Structural basis of the 70-kilodalton heat shock cognate protein ATP hydrolytic activity. II. Structure of the active site with ADP or ATP bound to wild type and mutant ATPase fragment. J Biol Chem 269, 12899-12907.
- Gautschi, M., Lilie, H., Fünfschilling, U., Mun, A., Ross, S., Lithgow, T., Rücknagel, P., and Rospert, S. (2001). RAC, a stable ribosome-associated complex in yeast formed by the DnaK-DnaJ homologs Ssz1p and zuotin. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *98*, 3762-3767.
- Gautschi, M., Mun, A., Ross, S., and Rospert, S. (2002). A functional chaperone triad on the yeast ribosome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *99*, 4209-4214.
- Gavin, A.C., Aloy, P., Grandi, P., Krause, R., Boesche, M., Marzioch, M., Rau, C., Jensen, L.J., Bastuck, S., Dumpelfeld, B., *et al.* (2006). Proteome survey reveals modularity of the yeast cell machinery. Nature 440, 631-636.
- Genevaux, P., Georgopoulos, C., and Kelley, W.L. (2007). The Hsp70 chaperone machines of Escherichia coli: a paradigm for the repartition of chaperone functions. Molecular microbiology *66*, 840-857.
- Georgopoulos, C. (2006). Toothpicks, serendipity and the emergence of the Escherichia coli DnaK (Hsp70) and GroEL (Hsp60) chaperone machines. Genetics *174*, 1699-1707.
- Goeckeler, J.L., Stephens, A., Lee, P., Caplan, A.J., and Brodsky, J.L. (2002). Overexpression of yeast Hsp110 homolog Sse1p suppresses ydj1-151 thermosensitivity and restores Hsp90-dependent activity. Mol Biol Cell 13, 2760-2770.
- Goloubinoff, P., and De Los Rios, P. (2007). The mechanism of Hsp70 chaperones: (entropic) pulling the models together. Trends Biochem Sci *32*, 372-380.
- Goloubinoff, P., Gatenby, A.A., and Lorimer, G.H. (1989). GroE heat-shock proteins promote assembly of foreign prokaryotic ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase oligomers in Escherichia coli. Nature *337*, 44-47.
- Graumann, P.L. (2007). Cytoskeletal elements in bacteria. Annual review of microbiology *61*, 589-618.
- Hara, F., Yamashiro, K., Nemoto, N., Ohta, Y., Yokobori, S., Yasunaga, T., Hisanaga, S., and Yamagishi, A. (2007). An actin homolog of the archaeon Thermoplasma acidophilum that retains the ancient characteristics of eukaryotic actin. Journal of bacteriology 189, 2039-2045.

- Harrison, C.J., Hayer-Hartl, M., Di Liberto, M., Hartl, F., and Kuriyan, J. (1997). Crystal structure of the nucleotide exchange factor GrpE bound to the ATPase domain of the molecular chaperone DnaK. Science *276*, 431-435.
- Hartl, F.U., and Hayer-Hartl, M. (2002). Molecular chaperones in the cytosol: from nascent chain to folded protein. Science 295, 1852-1858.
- Hixon, W.G., and Searcy, D.G. (1993). Cytoskeleton in the archaebacterium Thermoplasma acidophilum? Viscosity increase in soluble extracts. Biosystems 29, 151-160.
- Höhfeld, J., Cyr, D.M., and Patterson, C. (2001). From the cradle to the grave: molecular chaperones that may choose between folding and degradation. EMBO reports *2*, 885-890.
- Höhfeld, J., and Jentsch, S. (1997). GrpE-like regulation of the hsc70 chaperone by the antiapoptotic protein BAG-1. EMBO J 16, 6209-6216.
- Höhfeld, J., Minami, Y., and Hartl, F.U. (1995). Hip, a novel cochaperone involved in the eukaryotic Hsc70/Hsp40 reaction cycle. Cell *83*, 589-598.
- Huang, P., Gautschi, M., Walter, W., Rospert, S., and Craig, E.A. (2005). The Hsp70 Ssz1 modulates the function of the ribosome-associated J-protein Zuo1. Nat Struct Mol Biol 12, 497-504.
- Ishihara, K., Yasuda, K., and Hatayama, T. (1999). Molecular cloning, expression and localization of human 105 kDa heat shock protein, hsp105. Biochim Biophys Acta *1444*, 138-142.
- Jiang, J., Maes, E.G., Taylor, A.B., Wang, L., Hinck, A.P., Lafer, E.M., and Sousa, R. (2007). Structural basis of J cochaperone binding and regulation of Hsp70. Mol Cell 28, 422-433.
- Kabani, M., Beckerich, J.M., and Brodsky, J.L. (2002a). Nucleotide exchange factor for the yeast Hsp70 molecular chaperone Ssa1p. Mol Cell Biol 22, 4677-4689.
- Kabani, M., Beckerich, J.M., and Gaillardin, C. (2000). Sls1p stimulates Sec63p-mediated activation of Kar2p in a conformation-dependent manner in the yeast endoplasmic reticulum. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 6923-6934.
- Kabani, M., McLellan, C., Raynes, D.A., Guerriero, V., and Brodsky, J.L. (2002b). HspBP1, a homologue of the yeast Fes1 and Sls1 proteins, is an Hsc70 nucleotide exchange factor. FEBS Lett 531, 339-342.
- Kaneko, Y., Nishiyama, H., Nonoguchi, K., Higashitsuji, H., Kishishita, M., and Fujita, J. (1997). A novel hsp110-related gene, apg-1, that is abundantly expressed in the testis responds to a low temperature heat shock rather than the traditional elevated temperatures. J Biol Chem 272, 2640-2645.
- Karzai, A.W., and McMacken, R. (1996). A bipartite signaling mechanism involved in DnaJmediated activation of the Escherichia coli DnaK protein. J Biol Chem 271, 11236-11246.
- Kitao, Y., Hashimoto, K., Matsuyama, T., Iso, H., Tamatani, T., Hori, O., Stern, D.M., Kano, M., Ozawa, K., and Ogawa, S. (2004). ORP150/HSP12A regulates Purkinje cell survival: a role for endoplasmic reticulum stress in cerebellar development. J Neurosci 24, 1486-1496.
- Kitao, Y., Ozawa, K., Miyazaki, M., Tamatani, M., Kobayashi, T., Yanagi, H., Okabe, M., Ikawa, M., Yamashima, T., Stern, D.M., *et al.* (2001). Expression of the endoplasmic

reticulum molecular chaperone (ORP150) rescues hippocampal neurons from glutamate toxicity. J Clin Invest *108*, 1439-1450.

- Kleczkowski, L.A., Martz, F., and Wilczynska, M. (2005). Factors affecting oligomerization status of UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase. Phytochemistry *66*, 2815-2821.
- Lamerz, A.C., Haselhorst, T., Bergfeld, A.K., von Itzstein, M., and Gerardy-Schahn, R. (2006). Molecular cloning of the Leishmania major UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase, functional characterization, and ligand binding analyses using NMR spectroscopy. J Biol Chem 281, 16314-16322.
- Laskey, R.A., Honda, B.M., Mills, A.D., and Finch, J.T. (1978). Nucleosomes are assembled by an acidic protein which binds histones and transfers them to DNA. Nature 275, 416-420.
- Li, L.A., and Tabita, F.R. (1997). Maximum activity of recombinant ribulose 1,5bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase of Anabaena sp. strain CA requires the product of the rbcX gene. J Bacteriol *179*, 3793-3796.
- Liberek, K., Marszalek, J., Ang, D., Georgopoulos, C., and Zylicz, M. (1991). Escherichia coli DnaJ and GrpE heat shock proteins jointly stimulate ATPase activity of DnaK. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88, 2874-2878.
- Liu, Q., and Hendrickson, W.A. (2007). Insights into Hsp70 chaperone activity from a crystal structure of the yeast Hsp110 Sse1. Cell *131*, 106-120.
- Martz, F., Wilczynska, M., and Kleczkowski, L.A. (2002). Oligomerization status, with the monomer as active species, defines catalytic efficiency of UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase. Biochem J *367*, 295-300.
- Mayer, M.P., and Bukau, B. (2005). Hsp70 chaperones: cellular functions and molecular mechanism. Cell Mol Life Sci 62, 670-684.
- McClellan, A.J., Xia, Y., Deutschbauer, A.M., Davis, R.W., Gerstein, M., and Frydman, J. (2007). Diverse cellular functions of the Hsp90 molecular chaperone uncovered using systems approaches. Cell 131, 121-135.
- McCoy, J.G., Bitto, E., Bingman, C.A., Wesenberg, G.E., Bannen, R.M., Kondrashov, D.A., and Phillips, G.N., Jr. (2007). Structure and dynamics of UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase from Arabidopsis thaliana with bound UDP-glucose and UTP. J Mol Biol 366, 830-841.
- McLellan, C.A., Raynes, D.A., and Guerriero, V. (2003). HspBP1, an Hsp70 cochaperone, has two structural domains and is capable of altering the conformation of the Hsp70 ATPase domain. J Biol Chem 278, 19017-19022.
- Meacham, G.C., Patterson, C., Zhang, W., Younger, J.M., and Cyr, D.M. (2001). The Hsc70 co-chaperone CHIP targets immature CFTR for proteasomal degradation. Nat Cell Biol *3*, 100-105.
- Møller-Jensen, J., Borch, J., Dam, M., Jensen, R.B., Roepstorff, P., and Gerdes, K. (2003). Bacterial mitosis: ParM of plasmid R1 moves plasmid DNA by an actin-like insertional polymerization mechanism. Mol Cell 12, 1477-1487.
- Mukai, H., Kuno, T., Tanaka, H., Hirata, D., Miyakawa, T., and Tanaka, C. (1993). Isolation and characterization of SSE1 and SSE2, new members of the yeast HSP70 multigene family. Gene *132*, 57-66.

- Newman, J., Bränden, C.I., and Jones, T.A. (1993). Structure determination and refinement of ribulose 1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase from Synechococcus PCC6301. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 49, 548-560.
- Nonoguchi, K., Itoh, K., Xue, J.H., Tokuchi, H., Nishiyama, H., Kaneko, Y., Tatsumi, K., Okuno, H., Tomiwa, K., and Fujita, J. (1999). Cloning of human cDNAs for Apg-1 and Apg-2, members of the Hsp110 family, and chromosomal assignment of their genes. Gene 237, 21-28.
- Oh, H.J., Chen, X., and Subjeck, J.R. (1997). Hsp110 protects heat-denatured proteins and confers cellular thermoresistance. J Biol Chem 272, 31636-31640.
- Oh, H.J., Easton, D., Murawski, M., Kaneko, Y., and Subjeck, J.R. (1999). The chaperoning activity of hsp110. Identification of functional domains by use of targeted deletions. J Biol Chem 274, 15712-15718.
- Otterbein, L.R., Graceffa, P., and Dominguez, R. (2001). The crystal structure of uncomplexed actin in the ADP state. Science 293, 708-711.
- Otto, H., Conz, C., Maier, P., Wolfle, T., Suzuki, C.K., Jeno, P., Rucknagel, P., Stahl, J., and Rospert, S. (2005). The chaperones MPP11 and Hsp70L1 form the mammalian ribosome-associated complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 10064-10069.
- Packschies, L., Theyssen, H., Buchberger, A., Bukau, B., Goody, R.S., and Reinstein, J. (1997). GrpE accelerates nucleotide exchange of the molecular chaperone DnaK with an associative displacement mechanism. Biochemistry 36, 3417-3422.
- Polier, S., Dragovic, Z., Hartl, F.U., and Bracher, A. (2008). Structural basis for the cooperation of Hsp70 and Hsp110 chaperones in protein folding. Cell *133*, 1068-1079.
- Raviol, H., Bukau, B., and Mayer, M.P. (2006a). Human and yeast Hsp110 chaperones exhibit functional differences. FEBS Lett *580*, 168-174.
- Raviol, H., Sadlish, H., Rodriguez, F., Mayer, M.P., and Bukau, B. (2006b). Chaperone network in the yeast cytosol: Hsp110 is revealed as an Hsp70 nucleotide exchange factor. EMBO J 25, 2510-2518.
- Raynes, D.A., and Guerriero, V. (1998). Inhibition of Hsp70 ATPase activity and protein renaturation by a novel Hsp70-binding protein. J Biol Chem 273, 32883-32888.
- Revington, M., Zhang, Y., Yip, G.N., Kurochkin, A.V., and Zuiderweg, E.R. (2005). NMR investigations of allosteric processes in a two-domain Thermus thermophilus Hsp70 molecular chaperone. J Mol Biol 349, 163-183.
- Rist, W., Graf, C., Bukau, B., and Mayer, M.P. (2006). Amide hydrogen exchange reveals conformational changes in hsp70 chaperones important for allosteric regulation. J Biol Chem 281, 16493-16501.
- Roeben, A., Kofler, C., Nagy, I., Nickell, S., Hartl, F.U., and Bracher, A. (2006a). Crystal structure of an archaeal actin homolog. J Mol Biol *358*, 145-156.
- Roeben, A., Plitzko, J.M., Korner, R., Bottcher, U.M., Siegers, K., Hayer-Hartl, M., and Bracher, A. (2006b). Structural basis for subunit assembly in UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase from Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Mol Biol 364, 551-560.
- Rosenzweig, R., and Glickman, M.H. (2008). Chaperone-driven proteasome assembly. Biochem Soc Trans *36*, 807-812.

- Roy, H. (1989). Rubisco assembly: a model system for studying the mechanism of chaperonin action. The Plant cell *1*, 1035-1042.
- Rüdiger, S., Germeroth, L., Schneider-Mergener, J., and Bukau, B. (1997). Substrate specificity of the DnaK chaperone determined by screening cellulose-bound peptide libraries. EMBO J 16, 1501-1507.
- Rutter, J., Probst, B.L., and McKnight, S.L. (2002). Coordinate regulation of sugar flux and translation by PAS kinase. Cell 111, 17-28.
- Saschenbrecker, S., Bracher, A., Rao, K.V., Rao, B.V., Hartl, F.U., and Hayer-Hartl, M. (2007). Structure and function of RbcX, an assembly chaperone for hexadecameric Rubisco. Cell 129, 1189-1200.
- Scheufler, C., Brinker, A., Bourenkov, G., Pegoraro, S., Moroder, L., Bartunik, H., Hartl, F.U., and Moarefi, I. (2000). Structure of TPR domain-peptide complexes: critical elements in the assembly of the Hsp70-Hsp90 multichaperone machine. Cell *101*, 199-210.
- Schönfeld, H.J., Schmidt, D., Schröder, H., and Bukau, B. (1995). The DnaK chaperone system of Escherichia coli: quaternary structures and interactions of the DnaK and GrpE components. J Biol Chem 270, 2183-2189.
- Schuermann, J.P., Jiang, J., Cuellar, J., Llorca, O., Wang, L., Gimenez, L.E., Jin, S., Taylor, A.B., Demeler, B., Morano, K.A., *et al.* (2008). Structure of the Hsp110:Hsc70 nucleotide exchange machine. Mol Cell *31*, 232-243.
- Senderek, J., Krieger, M., Stendel, C., Bergmann, C., Moser, M., Breitbach-Faller, N., Rudnik-Schoneborn, S., Blaschek, A., Wolf, N.I., Harting, I., *et al.* (2005). Mutations in SIL1 cause Marinesco-Sjogren syndrome, a cerebellar ataxia with cataract and myopathy. Nat Genet 37, 1312-1314.
- Shaner, L., Sousa, R., and Morano, K.A. (2006). Characterization of Hsp70 binding and nucleotide exchange by the yeast Hsp110 chaperone Sse1. Biochemistry 45, 15075-15084.
- Shaner, L., Trott, A., Goeckeler, J.L., Brodsky, J.L., and Morano, K.A. (2004). The function of the yeast molecular chaperone Sse1 is mechanistically distinct from the closely related hsp70 family. J Biol Chem 279, 21992-22001.
- Shaner, L., Wegele, H., Buchner, J., and Morano, K.A. (2005). The yeast HSP110 SSE1 functionally interacts with the HSP70 chaperones SSA and SSB. J Biol Chem 279, 21992-22001.
- Shomura, Y., Dragovic, Z., Chang, H.C., Tzvetkov, N., Young, J.C., Brodsky, J.L., Guerriero, V., Hartl, F.U., and Bracher, A. (2005). Regulation of Hsp70 function by HspBP1: Structural analysis reveals an alternate mechanism for Hsp70 nucleotide exchange. Mol Cell 17, 367-379.
- Smith, T.L., and Rutter, J. (2007). Regulation of glucose partitioning by PAS kinase and Ugp1 phosphorylation. Mol Cell *26*, 491-499.
- Sondermann, H., Scheufler, C., Schneider, C., Höhfeld, J., Hartl, F.U., and Moarefi, I. (2001). Structure of a Bag/Hsc70 complex: convergent functional evolution of Hsp70 nucleotide exchange factors. Science *291*, 1553-1557.
- Steel, G.J., Fullerton, D.M., Tyson, J.R., and Stirling, C.J. (2004). Coordinated activation of Hsp70 chaperones. Science *303*, 98-101.

- Steiner, T., Lamerz, A.C., Hess, P., Breithaupt, C., Krapp, S., Bourenkov, G., Huber, R., Gerardy-Schahn, R., and Jacob, U. (2007). Open and closed structures of the UDPglucose pyrophosphorylase from Leishmania major. The Journal of biological chemistry 282, 13003-13010.
- Swain, J.F., Dinler, G., Sivendran, R., Montgomery, D.L., Stotz, M., and Gierasch, L.M. (2007). Hsp70 chaperone ligands control domain association via an allosteric mechanism mediated by the interdomain linker. Mol Cell 26, 27-39.
- Takayama, S., and Reed, J.C. (2001). Molecular chaperone targeting and regulation by BAG family proteins. Nat Cell Biol *3*, E237-E241.
- Theyssen, H., Schuster, H.P., Packschies, L., Bukau, B., and Reinstein, J. (1996). The second step of ATP binding to DnaK induces peptide release. J Mol Biol *263*, 657-670.
- Thoden, J.B., and Holden, H.M. (2007). The molecular architecture of glucose-1-phosphate uridylyltransferase. Protein Sci *16*, 432-440.
- Tyson, J.R., and Stirling, C.J. (2000). LHS1 and SIL1 provide a lumenal function that is essential for protein translocation into the endoplasmic reticulum. The EMBO journal *19*, 6440-6452.
- Tzankov, S., Wong, M.J., Shi, K., Nassif, C., and Young, J.C. (2008). Functional Divergence between Co-chaperones of Hsc70. The Journal of biological chemistry 283, 27100-27109.
- van den Ent, F., Amos, L.A., and Löwe, J. (2001). Prokaryotic origin of the actin cytoskeleton. Nature *413*, 39-44.
- van den Ent, F., Møller-Jensen, J., Amos, L.A., Gerdes, K., and Löwe, J. (2002). F-actin-like filaments formed by plasmid segregation protein ParM. The EMBO journal *21*, 6935-6943.
- Vogel, J.P., Misra, L.M., and Rose, M.D. (1990). Loss of BiP/GRP78 function blocks translocation of secretory proteins in yeast. J Cell Biol *110*, 1885-1895.
- Vogel, M., Mayer, M.P., and Bukau, B. (2006). Allosteric regulation of Hsp70 chaperones involves a conserved interdomain linker. J Biol Chem 281, 38705-38711.
- Wang, X.Y., Chen, X., Oh, H.J., Repasky, E., Kazim, L., and Subjeck, J. (2000). Characterization of native interaction of hsp110 with hsp25 and hsc70. FEBS Lett 465, 98-102.
- Wegele, H., Haslbeck, M., Reinstein, J., and Buchner, J. (2003). Sti1 is a novel activator of the Ssa proteins. J Biol Chem 278, 25970-25976.
- Weitzmann, A., Baldes, C., Dudek, J., and Zimmermann, R. (2007). The heat shock protein 70 molecular chaperone network in the pancreatic endoplasmic reticulum - a quantitative approach. The FEBS journal 274, 5175-5187.
- Wu, B., Wawrzynow, A., Zylicz, M., and Georgopoulos, C. (1996). Structure-function analysis of the Escherichia coli GrpE heat shock protein. EMBO J 15, 4806-4816.
- Yam, A.Y., Albanese, V., Lin, H.T., and Frydman, J. (2005). HSP110 cooperates with different cytosolic HSP70 systems in a pathway for de novo folding. J Biol Chem 280, 41252-41261.

- Yamagishi, N., Ishihara, K., and Hatayama, T. (2004). Hsp105alpha suppresses Hsc70 chaperone activity by inhibiting Hsc70 ATPase activity. J Biol Chem 279, 41727-41733.
- Yasuda, M., Oyaizu, H., Yamagishi, A., and Oshima, T. (1995). Morphological variation of new Thermoplasma acidophilum isolates from Japanese hot springs. Appl Environ Microbiol 61, 3482-3485.
- Young, J.C., Agashe, V.R., Siegers, K., and Hartl, F.U. (2004). Pathways of chaperonemediated protein folding in the cytosol. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *5*, 781-791.
- Young, J.C., Barral, J.M., and Hartl, F.U. (2003). More than folding: localized functions of cytosolic chaperones. Trends Biochem Sci 28, 541-547.
- Zhang, C., and Guy, C.L. (2005). Co-immunoprecipitation of Hsp101 with cytosolic Hsc70. Plant Physiol Biochem 43, 13-18.
- Zhao, L., Longo-Guess, C., Harris, B.S., Lee, J.W., and Ackerman, S.L. (2005a). Protein accumulation and neurodegeneration in the woozy mutant mouse is caused by disruption of SIL1, a cochaperone of BiP. Nat Genet 37, 974-979.
- Zhao, R., Davey, M., Hsu, Y.C., Kaplanek, P., Tong, A., Parsons, A.B., Krogan, N., Cagney, G., Mai, D., Greenblatt, J., *et al.* (2005b). Navigating the chaperone network: an integrative map of physical and genetic interactions mediated by the hsp90 chaperone. Cell *120*, 715-727.
- Zhou, H.X., Rivas, G., and Minton, A.P. (2008). Macromolecular crowding and confinement: biochemical, biophysical, and potential physiological consequences. Annu Rev Biophys *37*, 375-397.
- Zhu, X., Zhao, X., Burkholder, W.F., Gragerov, A., Ogata, C.M., Gottesman, M.E., and Hendrickson, W.A. (1996). Structural analysis of substrate binding by the molecular chaperone DnaK. Science 272, 1606-1614.

# 7 Curriculum vitae

### **Personal Information**

Name	Andreas Bracher
Date of birth	22 November 1967
Nationality	German
Work address	Department of Cellular Biochemistry (Hartl)
	Max-Planck-Institute of Biochemistry
	Am Klopferspitz 18
	82152 Martinsried
	Germany
	+49 89 8578 2933
e-mail	bracher@biochem.mpg.de

## Education

2004 - present	Habilitation at the Institut für Organische Chemie und Biochemie of the Technische Universität München (TUM, Munich), Germany		
	Mentors:	Prof. Dr. Dr. Adelbert Bacher	
		Prof. Dr. Johannes Buchner	
		Prof. Dr. FUlrich Hartl	
1999 - 2002	Postdoctoral studies in the group of Dr. Winfried Weissenhorn at the EMBL Outstation in Grenoble, France		
1994 - 1998	Dissertation at the TUM		
	Supervisor,	Prof. Dr. Dr. Adelbert Bacher	
	Title	Structure and Reaction Mechanism of GTP cyclohydrolase I	
	Grade	Summa cum laude	
1988 - 1994	Study of Chemistry (Diploma) at the TUM		
	Grade	Summa cum laude	
1977 - 1986	Max-Born (	Gymnasium Germering	

# Employment

2002 – present	Group leader in the Department of Cellular Biochemistry, Prof. Dr. FUlrich
	Hartl, at the Max-Planck-Institute of Biochemistry, Martinsried, Germany
1999 - 2002	Postdoctorate in the group of Dr. Winfried Weissenhorn at the EMBL Outstation in Grenoble, France
1994 - 1999	Co-worker of Prof. Dr. Dr. Adelbert Bacher at the Institute of Organic Chemistry and Biochemistry of the TUM

### Awards

2000 - 2002	Marie-Curie Postdoctoral Fellowship
2000	Hans Fischer Prize

### List of publications<sup>1</sup>

Peer-reviewed publications

- Nar, H., Huber, R., Auerbach, G., Fischer, M., Hösl, C., Ritz, H., Bracher, A., Meining, W., Eberhardt, S., and Bacher, A. (1995), Active site topology and reaction mechanism of GTP cyclohydrolase I, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 92, 12120-12125.
- Bracher, A., Eisenreich, W., Schramek, N., Ritz, H., Götze, E., Herrmann, A., Gütlich, M., and Bacher, A. (1998), Biosynthesis of pteridines. NMR studies on the reaction mechanisms of GTP cyclohydrolase I, pyruvoyl tetrahydropterin synthase, and sepiapterin reductase, J. Biol. Chem. 273, 28132-28141.
- 3. Mancini, R., Saracino, F., Buscemi, G., Fischer, M., Schramek, N., Bracher, A., Bacher, A., Gütlich, M., and Agostoni Carbone, M.L. (1999), Complementation of the fol2 deletion in Saccharomyces cerevisiae by Human and Escherichia coli Genes encoding GTP cyclohydrolase I, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm. 255, 521-527.
- Bracher, A., Fischer, M., Eisenreich, W., Ritz, H., Schramek, N., Boyle, P., Gentili, P., Huber, R., Nar, H., Auerbach, G., and Bacher, A. (1999), Histidine 179 mutants of GTP cyclohydrolase I catalyze the formation of 2-amino-5-formylamino-6ribofuranosylamino-4(3H)-pyrimidinone triphosphate, J. Biol. Chem. 274, 16727-16735.
- 5. Bracher, A., Dresbach, T., Betz, H., and Weissenhorn, W. (2000), Crystallization and preliminary X-ray analysis of squid neuronal Sec1, Acta Cryst. D 56, 501-503.
- 6. Bracher, A., Perrakis, A., Dresbach, T., Betz, H., and Weissenhorn, W. (2000), The Xray crystal structure of neuronal Sec1 from squid sheds new light on the role of this protein in exocytosis, Structure 8, 685-694.
- Auerbach, G., Herrmann, A., Bracher, A., Bader, G., Gütlich, M., Fischer, M., Neukamm, M., Garrido-Franco, M., Richardson, J., Nar, H., Huber, R. and Bacher, A. (2000). Zinc plays a key role in human and bacterial GTP cyclohydrolase I. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 97, 13567-13572.
- 8. Schramek, N., Bracher, A. and Bacher, A. (2001). Ring opening is not rate-limiting in the GTP cyclohydrolase I reaction. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 2622-2626.
- 9. Bracher, A. and Weissenhorn, W. (2001), Crystal structures of neuronal squid Sec1 implicate inter-domain hinge movement in the release of t-SNAREs. J. Mol. Biol. 306, 7-13.
- Ritz, H., Schramek, N., Bracher, A., Herz, S., Eisenreich, W., Richter, G. and Bacher, A. (2001), Biosynthesis of riboflavin: Studies on the mechanism of GTP cyclohydrolase II. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 22273-22277.
- 11. Bracher, A., Schramek, N. and Bacher, A. (2001), Biosynthesis of pteridines. Stoppedflow kinetic analysis of GTP cyclohydrolase I. Biochemistry 40, 7896-7902.
- 12. Schramek, N., Bracher, A. and Bacher, A. (2001), Biosynthesis of Riboflavin: Single turnover kinetic analysis of GTP cyclohydrolase II. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 44157-44162.
- Bavro, V.N., Sola, M., Bracher, A., Kneussel, M., Betz, H. and Weissenhorn, W. (2002), Crystal structure of the GABAA-receptor-associated protein, GABARAP. EMBO Rep. 3, 183-189.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The publication, Grallath, S., Schwarz, J.P., Böttcher, U.M.K., Bracher, A., Hartl, F.U. and Siegers, K. (2006) L25 functions as a conserved ribosomal docking site shared by nascent chain-associated complex and signal-recognition particle. EMBO Rep. 7, 78–84, was retracted.

- Schramek, N., Bracher, A., Fischer, M., Auerbach, G., Nar, H., Huber, R. and Bacher, A. (2002), Reaction mechanism of GTP cyclohydrolase I: Single turnover experiments using a kinetically competent reaction intermediate. J. Mol. Biol.316, 829-837.
- 15. Bracher, A., Kadlec, J., Betz, H. and Weissenhorn, W. (2002), X-ray structure of a neuronal complexin/SNARE complex from squid. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 26517-26523.
- 16. Bracher, A. and Weissenhorn, W. (2002), Structural basis for the Golgi membrane recruitment of Sly1p by Sed5p. EMBO J. 21, 6114-6124.
- 17. Rebelo, J., Auerbach, G., Bader, G., Bracher, A., Nar, H., Hösl, C., Schramek, N., Kaiser, J., Bacher, A., Huber, R. and Fischer, M. (2003), Biosynthesis of pteridines. Reaction mechanism of GTP cyclohydrolase I, J. Mol. Biol. 326, 503-516.
- Gomis-Rüth, F.X., Dessen, A., Timmins, J., Bracher, A., Kolesnikowa, L., Becker, S., Klenk, H.D. and Weissenhorn, W. (2003) The matrix protein VP40 from Ebola virus octamerizes into pore-like structures with specific RNA binding properties. Structure 11, 423-433.
- 19. Bracher, A. and Weissenhorn, W. (2004) Crystal structure of the Habc domain of neuronal syntaxin from the squid Loligo pealei reveals conformational plasticity at its C-terminus. BMC Struct. Biol. 4, 6.
- Shomura, Y., Dragovic, Z., Chang, H.-C., Tzvetkov, N., Young, J.C., Brodsky, J.L., Guerriero, V., Hartl, F.U. and Bracher, A.\* (2005) Regulation of Hsp70 function by HspBP1; Structural analysis reveals an alternate mechanism for Hsp70 nucleotide exchange. Mol. Cell 17, 367-379.
- 21. Kiachopoulos, S., Bracher, A., Winklhofer, K.F. and Tatzelt, J. (2005) Pathogenic mutations located in the hydrophobic core of the prion protein interfere with folding and attachment of the glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 9320-9329.
- 22. Besir, H., Zeth, K., Bracher, A., Heider, U., Ishibashi, M., Tokunaga, M. and Oesterhelt, D. (2005) Structure of a halophilic nucleoside diphosphate kinase from Halobacterium salinarum. FEBS Lett. 579, 6595-6600.
- 23. Roeben, A., Kofler, C., Nagy, I., Nickell, S., Hartl, F.U. and Bracher, A.\* (2006) Crystal structure of an archaeal actin homolog. J. Mol. Biol. 358, 145–156.
- 24. Dragovic, Z., Broadley, S.A., Shomura, Y., Bracher, A. and Hartl F.U. (2006) Molecular chaperones of the Hsp110 family act as nucleotide exchange factors of Hsp70s. EMBO J. 25, 2519–2528.
- 25. Roeben, A., Plitzko, J.M., Körner, R., Böttcher, U.M.K., Siegers, K., Hayer-Hartl, M. and Bracher, A.\* (2006) Structural basis for subunit assembly in UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase from Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Mol. Biol. 364, 551-560.
- 26. Dragovic, Z., Shomura, Y., Tzvetkov, N., Hartl, F.U. and Bracher, A.\* (2006) Fes1p acts as a nucleotide exchange factor for the ribosome-associated molecular chaperone Ssb1p. Biol. Chem. 387, 1593-1600.
- Saschenbrecker, S., Bracher, A.\*, Rao, K.V., Rao, B.V., Hartl, F.U.\* and Hayer-Hartl, M.\* (2007) Structure and function of RbcX, an assembly chaperone for hexadecameric Rubisco. Cell 129, 1189-1200.
- 28. Polier, S., Dragovic, Z., Hartl F.U.\* and Bracher A.\* (2008) Structural basis for the cooperation of Hsp70 and Hsp110 chaperones in protein folding. Cell 133, 1068-1079.

\* Corresponding author

Book chapters and invited publications

- Nar, H., Huber, R., Meining, W., Bracher, A., Fischer, M., Hösl, C., Ritz, H., Schmid, C., Weinkauf, S., and Bacher, A. (1996), Structure and mechanism of GTP cyclohydrolase I of Escherichia coli, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 24, 37S.
- Fischer, M., Bracher, A., Lutz, R., Herrmann, A., Auerbach, G., Grüneberg, S., Huber, R., Lottspeich, F., Bacher, A., and Gütlich, M. (1997), Heterologous expression of recombinant human GTP cyclohydrolase I, in: Chemistry and Biology of Pteridines and Folates 1997: Proceedings of the Eleventh International Symposium on Pteridines and Folates (Pfleiderer, W. and Rokos, R., eds.), Blackwell Wiss.-Verlag, Berlin, Wien, 611-614.
- Schramek, N., Bracher, A., Bader, G., Fischer, M., Auerbach, G., Gütlich, M., Eisenreich, W., Huber, R. and Bacher, A. (2002), Studies on the reaction mechanism of GTP cyclohydrolase I, in: Chemistry and Biology of Pteridines and Folates 2001: Proceedings of the Twelfth International Symposium on Pteridines and Folates (Milstien, S., Kapatos, G., Levine, R.A. and Shane, B., eds.), Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston, 169-173.
- 4. Siegers, K., Bracher, A. and Hartl, F. U. (2005) Structure and function of GimC/prefoldin, in: Protein Folding Handbook. Part II. (Buchner, J. and Kiefhaber, T., eds.), Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 756-767.
- 5. Bracher, A. and Hartl, F.U. (2005) Towards a complete structure of Hsp90. Structure 13, 501-502.
- 6. Brodsky, J.L. and Bracher, A. (2005) Nucleotide exchange factors for Hsp70 molecular chaperones, in: Networking of Chaperones by Co-Chaperones (Blatch, G.L., ed.), http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/bv.fcgi?rid=eurekah.chapter.61018
- 7. Bracher, A. and Hartl, F.U. (2006) Hsp90 structure: When two ends meet. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 13, 478-480.

Patent applications

2007 European patent: Means and methods for providing ribulose bisphosphate-carboxylaseoxygenase with improved properties (EP000001988168A1)

## 8 Appendix: Selected publications

- Shomura, Y., Dragovic, Z., Chang, H.-C., Tzvetkov, N., Young, J.C., Brodsky, J.L., Guerriero, V., Hartl, F.U. und Bracher, A. (2005) Regulation of Hsp70 Function by HspBP1; Structural Analysis Reveals an Alternate Mechanism for Hsp70 Nucleotide Exchange. Mol. Cell 17, 367-379.
- Dragovic, Z., Broadley, S.A., Shomura, Y., Bracher, A. und Hartl F.U. (2006) Molecular Chaperones of the Hsp110 Family Act as Nucleotide Exchange Factors of Hsp70s. EMBO J. 25, 2519–2528.
- Dragovic, Z., Shomura, Y., Tzvetkov, N., Hartl, F.U. und Bracher, A. (2006) Fes1p acts as a nucleotide exchange factor for the ribosome-associated molecular chaperone Ssb1p. Biol. Chem. 387, 1593-1600.
- Saschenbrecker, S., Bracher, A., Rao, K.V., Rao, B.V., Hartl, F.U. und Hayer-Hartl, M. (2007) Structure and Function of RbcX, an Assembly Chaperone for Hexadecameric Rubisco. Cell *129*, 1189-1200.
- Polier, S., Dragovic, Z., Hartl F.U. und Bracher A. (2008) Structural Basis for the Cooperation of Hsp70 and Hsp110 Chaperones in Protein Folding. Cell 133, 1068-1079.